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Introduction


I am a Kriegsgefangener


I wish that I were dead


It’s all through drinking sauerkraut


And eating mouldy bread.





My bed is in the corner,


I sleep upon the floor


My back is nearly broken


My ribs are very sore.





And when the war is over


And I settle down to rest,


If ever I meet a squarehead,


I’ll smash his bloody chest.1





This stark verse, written by an Australian prisoner of war (POW) in World War I, was circulated around the camps in Germany during the latter stages of the war. Representing probably the greatest hardship suffered by those being held captive — privation — the doggerel quickly came to signify the plight of Australian POWs. While figures vary, at least 4,000 Australian soldiers who fought in France and Flanders were captured by the Germans.2 By far the greatest number — almost 1,200 — were taken at the First Battle of Bullecourt on 11 April 1917.


Drawing on research and interviews conducted by the late David Chalk during the 1980s and early 1990s, Crossing the Wire describes the wartime travails of Australian soldiers through the Gallipoli campaign, the Western Front, and their internment as POWs in France and Germany. The book’s narrative portrays the experiences of almost three dozen veterans of the 4th Australian Infantry Brigade, their accounts supported by the letters, diaries and narratives of others in the brigade.


David Chalk became interested in the plight of Australian POWs after reading the diaries, letters and recollections of his grandfather, Ernest Chalk, who was captured at Bullecourt. Over the years this interest blossomed — so much so that, at considerable personal expense, David travelled the length and breadth of Australia, documenting other 4th Brigade veterans’ stories of their period in captivity, interviewing them, collecting photos, images and unpublished manuscripts — in fact anything of any relevance that he could find. At the same time, he amassed a large collection of memorabilia, most of it connected to the men he had interviewed.3 David intended to write a book documenting the experiences of these men under the title ‘Among the Angels: the road to Bullecourt’. Unfortunately, he fell ill before he could commence writing his book and passed away soon after. To me has fallen the task of completing David’s cherished work and I have attempted to follow his outline and chapter plans as closely as possible. Crossing the Wire is a tribute to David Chalk’s determination to relate an extraordinary story that, but for him, would have died with the men of the 4th Brigade.


As its central theme, Crossing the Wire takes the history of the 4th Brigade (4th Australian Division) from its formation in Australia to the First Battle of Bullecourt. Drawing on interviews and memoirs, I have endeavoured to remain faithful to David’s wish, and have largely used the men’s own words to tell the story by editing the transcripts of interviews and/or their diaries and unpublished memoirs. While some of those recollections may appear a little fanciful at times, they generally convey an accurate firsthand description of the men’s suffering and deprivation. The men David Chalk interviewed are introduced in the first chapter and the perceptive comments he compiled on some of their personalities are included in Appendix 2.


The 4th Brigade presents an excellent vehicle for this story because it was one of the original brigades formed, and its experiences on Gallipoli and in France were, in many ways, similar to those of other Australian brigades. However, unlike many brigades which comprised men from the more populous states, the 4th boasted men from all the Australian states — in particular, smaller states such as Tasmania and Western Australia. Its experience is thus more representative of the nation as a whole. The 4th is also noteworthy because it was initially commanded by John Monash and played a significant role in the fighting on Gallipoli. While the Gallipoli campaign itself has been thoroughly examined, the First Battle of Bullecourt — which has little prominence in the national consciousness — continues to suffer a lack of any real analysis from the Australian perspective. First Bullecourt is a natural starting point for any description of the POW experience because of the large number of Australians captured in that battle on 11 April 1917.
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A great deal has been written about the brutal treatment of Australian POWs under the Japanese in World War II. The suffering of Australian soldiers captured at the fall of Singapore and forced to work on the Burma– Thailand ‘Death’ Railway for example, has, over time, become linked to the Australian national consciousness. The tremendous skill, compassion and courage of Dr Edward ‘Weary’ Dunlop who, for three years, cared for seriously ill POWs, has come to represent the true meaning of the term ‘hero’ in the Australian psyche.4 While visiting Thailand recently, I was moved by the sight of the cemetery, not far from the River Kwai, where hundreds of Australian POWs are buried — as are similar numbers of British and Dutch prisoners. Comments such as ‘Forever In My Heart’, and the tender age of most of the young men who died gave me particular cause for reflection on the enduring scars of the POW experience — both for those in captivity and their anxious families.


Yet, somehow, the POW experience of Australians in that earlier conflict has been marginalised — despite the fact that some 254 Australians (sixteen officers and 238 other ranks) died while prisoners of the Germans.5 While that number appears small when compared to the carnage that was Gallipoli and the Western Front, and alongside the 6,421 British soldiers who died while POWs, it nonetheless represents Australian soldiers who suffered a trauma unique to war and one that almost always left a lasting imprint long after the end of the conflict. These were men who suffered not only the horrors of trench warfare, but endured also the particular anguish of being deprived of their liberty with no idea when they might expect to be freed. These were men who carried more than just the scars of battle and yet whose voices have seldom been heard. This, then, is their story — the men who crossed the wire now have their chance to speak.
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David Chalk
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CHAPTER ONE: PRELUDE TO WAR


‘We Marched Out to Meet the Supposed Enemy’





In the British Empire’s far-flung Australian dominion, the first decade of the twentieth century was marked by three major developments, all of which were to shape the character of the young nation. First, the Australian economy showed strong signs of recovery from the depression of the 1890s and many sectors of society enjoyed a new-found prosperity. Second, the soldiers of the Australian colonies — soon to be states of the new Commonwealth — ventured forth to join British forces fighting in the Boer War. Third, and perhaps most significantly, Federation in 1901 heralded the union of those six separate colonies into the Commonwealth of Australia. But the creation of a federal seat of government came at a price. While, in theory, Australia could develop and pursue its own foreign policy, in practice, the government usually conformed to the policy adopted by the British government in Westminster. Although a form of nationalism was emerging in Australia — ‘characterised by a general belief that the new nation could do things afresh’ — that ‘new nation’ was still part of the British Empire. Of a population of approximately 3.7 million, 85% could claim to be of British descent.1


In the years just prior to Federation, the Australian colonies became embroiled in a conflict not of their own making. Hundreds of young men enthusiastically took up arms for Britain and departed in a number of contingents for South Africa to fight the Boers. In what became known as the Second Boer War (or South African War), troops from the Australian Mounted Infantry performed their often hazardous duties in the veldt country, sometimes suffering huge casualties in what had essentially devolved into guerrilla warfare. When Boer opposition was finally crushed in mid- 1901, Australian soldiers — despite their occasional bouts of ill discipline — had won a name for audacity and bravery. These men unwittingly gave birth to Australia’s military reputation — ‘one renowned for dash and courage … relying more on natural skills developed in the Australian bush than those instilled on the parade ground.’ The same troops were forerunners of what became known as the 1st AIF (Australian Imperial Force), having ‘left a bitter-sweet and lasting legacy for the new Federation: the tradition of the citizen soldier in action.’2


[image: image]


On 2 August 1914, the German army invaded neutral Belgium. Left with little option, Britain declared war on Germany two days later, at 11.00 p.m. on 4 August 1914. Britain was neatly caught between the ‘moral issue’ of the London Treaty of 1839 (in which the more powerful European nations had guaranteed Belgium’s neutrality) and her own national security issues. Only the English Channel separated Belgium from London, and the capture of ports along the Belgian coast eventually would have given the Germans a strategic stranglehold over Britain.3 Australia — still theoretically aligned to British foreign policy and without any real discretion over its external affairs — was obliged to follow Britain’s lead. The Australian Prime Minister, Joseph Cook, fully supported by the Leader of the Federal Opposition, Andrew Fisher, had previously pledged to place the small number of Royal Australian Navy ships at the discretion of the British Admiralty and offered a force of 20,000 troops, adding that ‘the cost of despatch and maintenance will be borne by this Government.’4 And, while there may have been an election campaign in Australia at the same time as the crisis in Europe, Cook vowed that ‘all our resources in Australia are in the Empire and for the Empire, and for the preservation and security of Empire.’ For his part, Fisher announced that ‘Australians will stand beside our own to help and defend her [Britain] to our last man and our last shilling.’ Not long afterwards, the Australian Governor-General informed the British government that ‘there is indescribable enthusiasm and entire unanimity throughout Australia in support of all that tends to provide for the security of the empire in war.’5
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The multicultural Australia that its citizens now take for granted bears no resemblance to the Australia of the first decades of the twentieth century. At the time of Federation, ‘Queen [Victoria] was still sovereign and the old rules applied.’6 By 1901, Australian cultural identity could be broadly defined as the expansion of English ideals. British historian J.G. Fuller describes Australian schools in the early part of the century as emphasising the indebtedness of Australians to Britain and reinforcing the loyalty they owed the mother country.7 Certainly Australian private schools intentionally followed the pattern set by their British counterparts and stressed ‘the values of honour, duty, sacrifice and patriotism, obligation to Britain and pride of race.’8 Meaney’s explanation that Australians had ‘not turned their backs on Britain nor rejected their British cultural heritage … and took inordinate pride in being of British stock’ serves to reinforce the notion that the majority of Australians felt that they had obligations of obedience to Britain. As the response to the South African conflict illustrates so clearly, war endowed them with an even greater sense of belonging to Britain. Adds Meaney, ‘this patently [demonstrated that] … at the time of the Boer War they were for the empire “right or wrong”. The imperial cause was all.’9 By 1914 not much had changed — those of British stock had little difficulty committing themselves to the sentiment of being British-Australian and adhering to the British Empire in both a constitutional and an emotional sense.


While there appeared to be popular support and enthusiasm for the war — particularly among those of English descent — only 52,561 from an eligible male population of approximately 820,000 (or only 6.4%) had enlisted by the end of 1914. The historian Eric Andrews has suggested that those ‘who make much of the “rush to enlist” might therefore do better to ask why 93.6 per cent of eligibles did not enlist.’10 Others, including Bill Gammage, have claimed that thousands of young Australian men ‘were called to defend England. What had begun chiefly as a concern for their [English] security was to take them to the uttermost ends of the earth, to die in tens of thousands, in a war in no way of their making.’11 While to some degree rational, this view fails to consider Australia’s self-interest. Should Britain be defeated, Australia — indeed the entire empire — would have lost the protection of the ‘mother country’. Australia would have been increasingly vulnerable to the threats of militaristic Asian nations, particularly Japan. On 6 August 1914, The Sydney Morning Herald echoed the enthusiasm spreading throughout the nation when it declared, ‘It is our baptism of fire … Australia knows something of the flames of war, but its realities have never been brought so close as they will be in the near future.’12


The defeat of the once-powerful Russian army by Japan in 1904–05 altered dramatically the hierarchy of military dominance in the Pacific sphere. The possibility of a Japanese attack on Australia could no longer be ignored. More than ever, Australia needed to rely on the Royal Navy and the British army for protection. Yet, as Britain became more deeply engrossed in European affairs, Australia began to consider that her need for defence preparedness might best be met by a citizen army based on universal military service. In 1909, Field Marshal Lord Kitchener visited Australia at the instigation of the Prime Minister, Alfred Deakin, to report on the nation’s defence capabilities. One of his recommendations was implemented in the Australian Defence Bill which endorsed ‘the principle that every citizen should be trained to defend his county.’13 The Act was not enforced until 1 January 1911, when the recently elected Labor government of Andrew Fisher settled on a peacetime army of 80,000 men, recruited through three levels of universal compulsory service. Boys as young as twelve were conscripted into the junior cadets, while fourteen to eighteen-year-olds were required to enrol in the senior cadets. Young men between eighteen and twenty-six were enlisted in the Citizen Military Force (CMF). Senior cabinet ministers expressed their satisfaction that these changes had prepared the country for war. Moreover, by 1914, the provisions of the Act meant, in theory, ‘that the men [enlisting] could be organised, equipped and ready for departure within six weeks.’14


When war was declared, Australia found herself not quite as unprepared as initially feared by some federal government ministers. However, while ‘wise precautions’ and early planning had created the necessary framework for an expeditionary force, the legislation did not permit the government to send the CMF outside Australia. Its role was clearly defined: the CMF was to defend the nation against invasion. Rather than amend the Act, cabinet decided to implement the recommendation of the acting chief of staff, Major Cyril Brudenell White. White proposed that a force of 20,000 volunteers be trained and equipped for overseas service within a period of six weeks. The AIF — Australia’s contribution to imperial defence — was a volunteer army, divorced from the CMF.15 The newly promoted inspector-general, Brigadier General William Bridges, was appointed to command and organise the force, while Brudenell White was confirmed as his chief of staff.


Raising, training and equipping an expeditionary force of such a considerable size was always going to present problems for Bridges and Brudenell White. Unlike Britain — the last of the main belligerents to mobilise — which had a blueprint to put four divisions in the field within days of the declaration of war, Australia lacked any mobilisation framework at all. While Brudenell White preferred the enlistment of ‘volunteer detachments from the existing home service battalions, and other units … [and] linking the home service army with the contingent for overseas,’ Bridges recognised the problems that this could engender. His primary grievance related to the way those units could be disbanded and scattered ‘separately among British divisions’. Bridges advocated a more practical solution: the establishment of ‘a special force by enlistment from the whole population’.16 The Commander of the New Zealand Expeditionary Force, Major General Alexander Godley (a regular British officer), was among the senior officers and politicians who praised Bridges for his orderly organisation of the AIF. ‘They have not been stinted at all,’ Godley enthused, ‘and expect to spend £12 million on their Expeditionary Force. They consequently have everything that they could want in the way of motor transport etc.’ However, Godley failed to take into account ‘the AIF’s degree of preparedness and potential effectiveness. On Gallipoli it was short of such basic requirements as howitzers for the artillery. Ammunition shortages were also common and other deficiencies had been apparent from the outset.’17


Although the AIF was an army comprised completely of volunteers, what is sometimes overlooked is that many of those first eager young recruits had recently completed basic military training in the CMF. For several weeks each year they had taken part in ‘military and physical training and [understanding] the … value of … discipline.’18 Once the men enlisted, experienced officers and non-commissioned officers (NCOs) further developed that discipline and extended their training. Bridges chose mid-ranking staff officers from the small regular staff that administered and trained the CMF. Others were selected from British regular officers who were on loan to the Australian army. For battalion and brigade commanders, he looked for suitable officers from the CMF.19 However, Bridges’ plan to draw half the volunteers from those with CMF experience and the other half from those without any military background remained unrealised.
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The ‘digger tradition’ is also a factor worthy of consideration. The AIF, in common with all armies, was exclusively made up of men — apart from a few female nurses. But, as Graham Seal points out, in the ranks of the AIF


masculinity was imbued with especially powerful associations derived from prevailing notions of the Australian ‘character’. These notions involved the stereotypical representation of the ideal Australian as a tall, tough, laconic, hard-drinking, hard-swearing, hard-gambling, independent, resourceful, anti-authoritarian, manual labouring, itinerant, white male.20


The 1st AIF was generally regarded as egalitarian and this was reinforced by the appointment of junior officers initially chosen from within the ranks of the CMF. However, by January 1915, the only way to gain a commission was by enlisting first as a private soldier and demonstrating the qualities of leadership necessary to become an officer. Of course there were exceptions, such as newly graduated subalterns from Duntroon, although their numbers were too few to impact on the AIF’s ethos.
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Recruitment commenced on 10 August 1914. Men and boys of all ages — some as young as thirteen, others in their early seventies — from all occupations and diverse socio-economic backgrounds rushed eagerly to makeshift recruiting centres, first in Sydney and then in other capital cities. At first many of the men failed to meet the strict standards imposed by the army. They had to be at least 5 feet 6 inches (1.6 metres) tall, 34 inches (86 centimetres) around the chest, and between nineteen and thirty-eight years of age. Due to the enormous number of volunteers, men were rejected for seemingly minor reasons, including lack of military experience, poor teeth, corns or bunions and even flat feet.21 According to one of the early volunteers, ‘Many of those who were rejected were so disgusted that they “went and got married” while some committed suicide.’22


Many reasons motivated men to volunteer. Charles Bean’s certainty — expressed in his official history — that ‘the qualities of independence and initiative’ displayed by Australian bushmen were the characteristics of the 1st AIF’s recruits which ‘makes superb soldiers,’ has since been dismissed as overly jingoistic. Lloyd Robson, for example, argues that Bean’s belief in the mythology of the bushman caused him to stereotype the reasons men (and boys) enlisted. Certainly, in the early stages, recruitment focused on men with military experience who, in the majority of cases, came from cities or larger provincial towns.23


Richard White asserts that middle-class recruits were likely to have enlisted because of abstract motives such as duty and honour, interwoven with self-interest. Men from the working class were driven to enlist, adds White, for reasons of ‘judicious self-interest’.24 While John McQuilton’s research is based exclusively on Yackandanandah, in north-eastern Victoria, the motivations that drove the local men to volunteer often represent the larger canvas in microcosm. Expanding White’s conclusion, McQuilton argues that economic and social considerations were more important than sectarian factors.25 Gammage suggests that some men considered they had an obligation to volunteer. These were men who had been educated in the ideal that ‘readiness to die for one’s country equated with sexual maturity and now their manhood took up the gauntlet’. Still others volunteered out of ‘hatred of Germany’.26


Patriotism, duty — even propaganda — contributed to the rush, as did the lure of foreign travel and adventure. One volunteer remembered that


those idealistic views of youth were built chiefly upon the spirit of chivalry and romance that permeated my history books and such poems as Macaulay’s ‘Lays Of Ancient Rome’ and his ballad of ‘How well Horatio kept the bridge in the brave days of old’. War presented itself chiefly under the mantle of brilliant uniforms, marching soldiers, music, drums and glory.27


Undeniably, the majority of volunteers — whether from the bush or city — never fully understood the Australian government’s reasons for sending them away to fight and die in distant foreign fields.
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Like many others, John Cunliffe was impatient to volunteer. On 9 September 1914, Cunliffe (aged eighteen years, eight months) walked from his home to Liverpool camp on the outskirts of Sydney. In an interview conducted shortly before his death, Cunliffe described his service in the school cadets:


When the first compulsory training started … I had a commission … I didn’t go into the militia … But they wouldn’t take anybody with a commission … so when the war started I went away as a sergeant … I was in charge of the company and there was four sections making up the company. I was in charge of the lot in their training, and rifle shooting and all the rest of it.28


John Doggett was seven years older when he enlisted at Anglesea Barracks in Hobart, on 30 January 1915, although his reasons for seeking adventure were more ambivalent. ‘I wanted to tell this young lady,’ he recalled, ‘that I … didn’t want to get engaged then go straight away. We had a little serious talk and I said to her that I was going away and if I came back we [would get] married.’29 Bill Bradnock was almost twenty-two years of age on 22 September 1914 when he volunteered at Enoggera in Queensland. He commented that he and his friends ‘were nothing more … than schoolboys’ in their attitude to life and the only memory they had retrospectively ‘would be what sort of a good time’ they had at school.30


Frank McGinty, who enlisted at the age of sixteen not long after war was declared, remembered that it was one of the most exciting moments of his life. Having secured his parents’ consent, Frank went


through Victoria Barracks. It was very crude in those days … everyone —they’re all in their ‘nuddy’ and — this doctor is looking at your teeth, and this fellow is weighing you, and this fellow is doing your chest. And there was a big bunch of young fellows going through from Newcastle. Young miners. And more or less, I was under everything, I remember, bar the chest measurement. I always had a good chest. Anyhow they put me through.31


Victor Groutsch, who hailed from Tocumwal in country Victoria, travelled to Melbourne:


You enlisted in your local area of course. And all the people from Tocumwal, all the young blokes, were going to Melbourne because that was our centre. I enlisted at Cobram and I went to Melbourne, and was rejected promptly by the ‘medicos’ there for having a weak heart … So then I had to enlist again in Tocumwal. It was early in April 1915. It was just a bit before the Landing. I’d been reading about the doings of all the boys in and around Cairo … and it sounded very attractive, of course at that time.32


Reginald Colmer’s motivation was simple. ‘I suppose the army wanted assistance,’ he said.33 By contrast, R.A. Goldrick volunteered because ‘I was … proud, romantic and reserved but ever ready to accept responsibility.’ He subsequently wrote:


There appeared to be an insistent something in the innate make-up of many of us which kept biologically alight the flame of chivalry, ardour and idealism. Most of us were filled with an ever surging patriotism; with admiration for the capacity, courage and camaraderie of our Australian companions in arms. We had unbounded confidence in our Empire and found fortitude in a most intense belief in the moral right of our cause.34


Whatever their reason for volunteering, all men needed to pass another medical examination, then take the oath of enlistment before undergoing further military training in camps scattered throughout Australia. Only then would they embark on their great adventure.
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By September 1914, early training was under way, often in harsh surrounds. Victor Groutsch recalled that, when he and the other recruits were ‘marched off to Liverpool camp, they thought of themselves as brave soldiers’, although a ‘bloody rag-tag mob too’. The camp proved very basic:


It was very rugged. When we came in the first thing they had to do was put up tents of course. And then they had to prepare a kitchen with a trench dug in the ground with iron bars over it. That’s where the cooks prepared the meals. We were issued with tin mugs and tin plates and all that sort of stuff. And our washing up place was a heap of sand down near the latrines.


Somewhat prosaically, he added, ‘that wasn’t very hygienic’ before concluding that ‘the training was quite proficient we thought. It was something we had never been subjected to before … The staff sar’majors who did our training called us warriors, so we really were warriors.’35


Following his enlistment at Victoria Barracks in Sydney, Donald Fraser was required to ‘fall in’ and march ‘out to Liverpool camp’ where he took ‘the oath for king and country.’ But Fraser


never had any drill [and] didn’t know anything about forming fours or anything. The sergeant-major soon showed us how it was done. Fall in line and number off, and how to form fours. Then march down from Victoria Barracks, down to the railway station on to the train out to Liverpool. We got issued with a waterproof sheet and two blankets and lay on the floor … Then we went into extensive training. We were marmalades [sic] first … They give us dungarees. They shifted us then into tents, after about a week, in the bell tents. It was better laying on the ground than it was on those hard floors … you had to clean the dixies, and you had no hot water to clean them, take them down and scrub them with sand.


For breakfast you got porridge if you wanted it, Bully beef and so on and bread. [For] dinner you would get some … [b]oiled potatoes and bully beef or something … At tea time all you got was bread and jam. Oh … you got the tea in a Dixie … A tin with a lid on it … We went to [the rifle range at] Long Bay … One time there I was a marker. They tailed me as a marker. And the bloke who was firing at it, he never even hit the target. And they said, ‘What’s wrong with the target, so and so?’ ‘Well,’ I said, ‘there are no bullet holes in it.’ Nothing hitting it. I don’t know what was wrong with the bloke who was shooting. He couldn’t hit it anyway.


Not long afterwards, the troops were required to perform ‘a mock landing at Middle Head … [for] a film on the landing at Gallipoli’, which Fraser saw at a picture theatre shortly before his departure for the war zone.36


Frank Massey’s memories of training at Holsworthy Camp, in New South Wales, were somewhat more laconic. ‘We were there for a few months,’ he recalled, describing the training of recruits in forming


‘fours’ discipline and bayonet fighting. But we hadn’t got bayonets anyhow. It was just sticks … we had a rifle range … we had to shoot, and had to pass at target practice. That was … near Coogee … [W]e went to Liverpool Camp for the final — about a month.37


Percy Toft summarised his view of army life: ‘There is nothing romantic in soldiering at first,’ he wrote. ‘Ill-fitting dungarees, dirty tent floors, irksome and strange drill, oily rifles, unpalatable roughly served food, unknown tent mates. Ignorant fault-finding nco’s, experimental troop manoeuvring, all made a complete uncertainty in effort and human relationship.’38 Roy Kyle was even more disapproving. ‘I found army life demoralising,’ he noted. ‘The plunge from a life of reasonable privacy to one completely devoid of it was shattering. I, of course, accepted it eventually but was never happy being herded like a mob of cattle.’39


At a training camp at Randwick racecourse, recruits took part in early morning parades. After a short break, they practised tactical manoeuvres before performing the more demanding tasks set by the battalion’s commanding officer (CO). Because officers were required to train alongside their men, a more uniform approach was adopted.40 Training was also conducted in specialist skills such as artillery, although, initially at least, there were few sufficiently accomplished officers and NCOs capable of instructing.41 Despite locating suitable men, other problems — usually associated with archaic British military doctrine — persisted. All training was dogged by a constant shortage of ammunition. In some artillery batteries, the troops were unable to fire a live round during training.42


Archibald Barwick wrote that, by early October, ‘we all had our kakhi [sic] & how proud we were to get it. [While] they worked us pretty hard … there was … the keenest rivalry between the different companies … [and] we had plenty of route marches & a fair bit of musketry.’43 Even the so-called ‘advanced’ training was rudimentary and usually involved the tactics of attack and defence. This training would prove totally unsuited to the type of warfare that lay ahead. Recruits soon became bored with the monotony of the daily routine, leading to drunkenness and lack of discipline. More intense musketry training came later, as did exercises involving combat with an imaginary enemy. Further medical examinations were conducted in an endeavour to weed out those men unsuited to military duties. Only then were the remainder inoculated against typhoid and smallpox.
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In the 15th Battalion, men from different states were brought together to form a single unit. Recruitment began in Brisbane on 14 September 1914 and, because no officers had been allocated, recruits were instructed initially by NCOs from the instructional staff. On 30 September, the 653 men who had enlisted from all over Queensland were assembled at Enoggera. There they were divided into six companies, based initially on the area from which they had enlisted:


A Company comprised men from around the Townsville district.


B Company consisted of recruits from around Rockhampton.


C Company included all men from the district around Wide Bay and Maryborough.


D Company claimed all the men from the city of Brisbane.


E Company was based on men from the Darling Downs, including Toowoomba.


F Company comprised all the recruits from the Northern Rivers of New South Wales.


On 22 November, having completed basic training, the six companies left by rail for Broadmeadows camp near Melbourne, where they joined G and H companies from Tasmania. The battalion was assigned to the 4th Brigade under the command of Colonel (later General) John Monash. Lieutenant Colonel J.H. Cannan was the battalion’s first CO, with Major H.R. Carter as his deputy.44


Ernest Etchell had been training at Claremont camp in Tasmania for only five days when he heard the call for volunteers for the 15th Battalion. ‘They were some short,’ he recalled,


Some had fallen out sick, and they called for volunteers. I wanted to get away … There were 36 of us [who] went from Tasmania, to join D Company … We was all mates … We used to knock about together … We came over in the Loongana from Launceston … Burnie had no safe port. We was kept on our own. We had reserved tables, and the passengers didn’t mix with us at all. Lieutenant Frank Lane was in charge of us. He was a good joker. He was one of the troops really.45
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New Recruits photographed during a break in training at Claremont Camp on the outskirts of Hobart, Tasmania, September 1914.
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Troop convoys began leaving Australian ports on 18 October, less than two months after the commencement of training. Most of the men, while possessing a basic understanding of military discipline, remained seriously undertrained. The convoy’s destination was kept secret, although most of the troops believed that they were going to Britain to undertake further training before moving on to the Western Front. On 2 November 1914, however, Turkey joined the Central Powers, taking up arms against Britain. Shortly afterwards, ‘speculation was renewed that the troops would be disembarked before reaching England. Aboard the transports the men half-expected that they would now be called upon to defend Egypt.’46


By the time the first ships began arriving in Alexandria on 3 December, plans had been formulated for the second convoy, which included Monash’s 4th Australian Brigade, now comprising the 13th, 14th, 15th and 16th Battalions. Troops from those units were, if anything, slightly better trained than the men from the earlier convoy. Sergeant A. L. Guppy wrote on 22 December, ‘We left … Broadmeadows, where we had been in camp since the middle of September … the 13th and 14th Battalions and [4th] Brigade Headquarters are aboard our Boat [Ulysses].’ Troops from the 15th and 16th Battalions were assigned to the Ceramic. On board his ship, Percy Toft was glad to be finally leaving for the front, although his preference was to fight ‘the Hun’ rather than ‘the Turk’.


On 28 December, the ships of the second convoy began assembling in the Western Australian port of Albany. On 29 December, Guppy wrote that ‘the New Zealand Transports steamed in to the pier … Physical exercise at 8.30 am and … lecture to NCOs on map reading at 8.30pm.’ Parades and training in military skills continued, although a few men became involved in wild brawls, mostly as a result of drunkenness. On 31 December, the convoy finally departed. The troops ‘said goodbye to the last part of Aussie that we shall see for some time,’ wrote Guppy. ‘There are 17 transports in the convoy travelling in three lines, and half a mile from the other, with the Ulysses as flagship. The Berrima is towing the Australian submarine A.E. 2 which is our only escort.’47


According to Gammage, the majority of volunteers believed that ‘active service began on the day they left Australia. They embarked with the stamp of the soldier noticeably upon them, but they were still largely civilians.’ One day out from Albany, Sergeant C.F. Laseron wrote: ‘This is the start of perhaps the most adventurous period of my life, and it is even very likely the last period … for the first time we … have really began the game in deadly earnest.’48 Percy Toft’s memories echoed this solemn sentiment:


Our hearts and minds were full, as, in a calm sea, we moved forward to the Great Unknown, and `left our country, former days, and youth … Our food was poor. Bread, jam and rabbit stew arrived invariably at each meal … The voyage to Egypt was made rather tedious by the lectures. Some were interesting, particularly those that touched on subjects as ‘How we were to behave to the enemy women folk’ and ‘What regular soldiers were like.’ However, to attend school again, and in the blazing tropics, was irksome.49


Private Robert Henry described conditions on board:


We were supposed to have hammocks … They were always given out after they got through The [Sydney] Heads … and I got that sick I didn’t get one. I just laid down on the floor, and I can still hear that propeller grinding away. I suffered from extreme biliousness. You wished you were dead. The eating arrangements — they had tables to eat off, of course. You were crammed pretty tight when you sat down. Anyhow there seemed to be any amount. It kept us going. I lost a bit of weight going across The Bight. We had physical exercises.50


The men found various ways to celebrate the New Year at sea. Guppy recalled that most on the Ulysses had fun


with chorus singing and much cheering. Our Brigadier Colonel [sic] Monash at midnight wished us all a Happy New Year. We trust it will be so and will bring to the Allied forces victory in the great cause. A Queensland soldier died aboard the Bordea and was buried at 10.55 am. The whole convoy stopped for a few minutes during service. Another troopship from Perth joined us today making now 18.51


In fact, life on board the troopships was little different to the men’s experience in the camps, Brudenell White having ordered that exercises and training were to continue as the convoys crossed the ocean.


Following a relatively incident free voyage marred only by illness — particularly sea-sickness — and minor lapses of discipline, the convoy reached the Suez Canal on 29 January 1915, soon ‘after the Turks had made a disorganised and fruitless attack on the Canal.’ Percy Toft and his battalion mates saw their first seaplanes, noted the ‘trenches on [the canal’s] banks, held by our own countrymen, real soldiers now — men of the 1st Division.’52 On 1 February the convoy reached Alexandria. That same day, the men departed by train for Cairo and, afterwards, took the sixteen-kilometre trip to Mena camp, not far from the famous pyramids. There they were given the opportunity to purchase Charles Bean’s booklet ‘A Guide for Australasian Soldiers, What to Know in Egypt’, which listed ‘protocol for contact with the natives, camp rules and sights to see’. Considering what lay ahead, possibly the most important ‘rule’ related to women. ‘Men must be careful to avoid any attempts at familiarity with native women,’ Bean wrote, ‘because if they are respectable they will get into trouble, and if they are not, venereal disease will probably be contracted.’53


Some troops enjoyed their initial encounter with Egypt, particularly Cairo with its ‘many interesting places’.54 Others, however, were not so pleased with what they saw and experienced. Roy Kyle believed that:


Egypt proved to be an unfortunate environment for Australians. They were young men in search of adventure and they had no special interest in old tombs, no matter how imposing. They climbed the pyramids in order to scratch their names into the stone at their peaks, had their pictures taken mounted on the back of a camel and then looked around for something else to do … [and] attempted to get pissed on what the Egyptians had the temerity to pass for beer.


Egypt was in every way a disappointment, after all, they [the Australians] had volunteered to fight the Hun, someone they thought of as a worthy opponent. Now they were stuck in a godforsaken land of shifting sand and wily wogs. They’d come to test their manhood and they’d not been taken seriously by Britain who, in giving them the Turk, had allocated a second-rate enemy in an insignificant location well away from the real action of the war.55


Percy Toft noted with some chagrin that ‘the more desirable part of Cairo was reserved for officers. Other ranks had the native area to amuse themselves in.’56


John Cunliffe enjoyed visiting the eye-catching buildings in Cairo, ‘especially the museum’. The darker side, such as the grubby bordellos in the Wazzir district, held little fascination for him. ‘The place was chock-a-block full of nothing else but brothels.’ He described an incident which would later gain notoriety as ‘The Battle of Wazzir’:


Some of the men were not quite satisfied with the service that they were getting. So they started throwing furniture out of the window into the street and setting it alight. That’s what they call the Battle of the Wazzir. They called in the English military police, but they had no effect. They didn’t take any notice of them. When the military police came to try and stop the riot there was a fight. They brought out horses to put the fires out, and the troops cut the horses … The only thing that stopped the riot was the Light Horse. They called the Light Horse in, and that stopped them.


I was in charge of a guard and I had to go back to the Wazzir and pick up all these Australians who were still lying around. If you told them in the morning where you found them they wouldn’t believe you. The local drink is nothing like ordinary drink. They were just frightful concoctions that would send the men off their nut immediately … Drunkenness was fairly prolific. These chaps would come from decent homes with a decent education, and they’d get this muck into their insides and they were not responsible for their actions. They had a camp there called the Gonorrhea Guards. It was filled up with all these chaps who had taken the risk and gone into the Wazzir and got gonorrhea.57


A large number of those men — and a few perennial troublemakers — were sent home to Australia, their fate an example to their fellows.58


The Australians continued their training in the tactics of modern warfare. Due to the senior officers’ insistence on ‘thoroughness’, it was not ‘till February that the troops were exercised as brigades’.59 While some training was to prove useful in the conflict ahead, other exercises, such as lengthy desert marches, were completely impractical. Many of the troops questioned the necessity for extended marches while others, such as Private C.W. Avery, become disheartened. Avery confided to his diary that he was experiencing ‘great disappointment of utter disgust,’ adding philosophically, ‘but one soon becomes used to practically anything.’60


The training was not uniform across every battalion. Moreover, little of it related ‘to the actual fighting’. ‘There was no training in the use of bombs’, for example, or even in the tactics of ‘trench warfare’.61 Brudenell White was to admit later that the exercises ‘had been based on obsolete tactical theory and aimed chiefly at wearing out the men so that they would be less of a nuisance in Cairo in the evenings.’62 By mid-January, exercises involved never-ending parades, route marches and musketry practice. The training also involved a ‘bonding process’, which attempted to further bind the men to their battalions — in military parlance, their ‘home’.63 Yet, probably due to conflicting personalities and the fact that juvenile ‘men had been abruptly removed from the constraints of neighbourhood and occupation’, maintaining discipline had become an even more serious problem, as had the spread of venereal disease.


As training progressed in Egypt, more men continued to enlist in the AIF in Australia. Jock Williamson, a native Scot, had arrived in Fremantle in January 1910, aged seventeen. When war broke out he was working near Kalgoorlie laying the tracks for the Trans-Australia railway line. On 18 February 1915, Williamson enlisted and, following some basic training at Blackboy Hill camp, sailed for Egypt on the troopship HMAT Hororata. In Egypt, Williamson underwent further training before being assigned to the 16th Battalion as a reinforcement.64
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By late February, training in Egypt had intensified. Route marches were longer, mock attacks more frequent, and the constant digging of trenches exhausted the men. Guppy recalled that, on 25 February, the troops went ‘out on manouvre [sic] this morning, taking our lunch with us and did a big day’s work over sand and ridges. We arrived back in camp at about 4pm.’ The following day he wrote:


Reveille [was] at 5.30 am … and after breakfast blank ammunition and lunch were issued. We were ordered to stand by ready to defend the camp against a sham attack. However at 2 pm we marched out to meet the supposed enemy and drove him off.


The historical significance of the region was not lost on Guppy who noticed when the troops ‘passed over an old battlefield where Napoleon with the French defeated a large force of Orientals.’65


By mid-March, expectation of combat was rife. Bayonet drill and musketry practice had assumed a monotonous regularity. Percy Toft noted that ‘all phases of training were run through from section to division work. Our brigade commanders were keen to know the exact limit of endurance in their men.’ He added:


We were kept at work from early morning to late in the evening. On field days we left the parade ground at 6.30 am and arrived back in camp at 8.30 pm. On the hardest day 35 miles were covered. Over the desert troops marched. Sometimes on hard sand, when men ricked their ankles through rolling on pebbles. Sometimes men trudged through loose sand which covered their boots. Up and down hills … formations were kept, whilst the sun scorched, the glare hurt the eyes, and dust, stirred by men’s feet, hung like a pall.66


By late February, rumours were spreading throughout the AIF of an amphibious assault on the ‘battered forts of the neighbouring Dardanelles’.67 On 29 March, the Commander-in-Chief of the Mediterranean Expeditionary Force (MEF), General Sir Ian Hamilton, stopped over in Cairo to review ANZAC troops. The men were familiar with the British habit of senior officers looking over divisions before being sent into battle and Gunner Ray Brownell commented that ‘this inspection by the Big Chiefs could mean nothing surer than a move to some war theatre.’68 On 1 April, all leave was cancelled. Three days later, the first convoy carrying Australians departed Alexandria, bound for Mudros Island in the Aegean Sea. The 4th Brigade waited until 12 April for its order to embark. Percy Toft recalled that, ‘as the vessels headed north, we guessed we were going to Turkey … [and became] very interested when we neared Lemnos Island, which, the “Egyptian Times” had told us, was the base for operations.’69 As the troopships sailed into port, Guppy noticed ‘a great number of other transports loaded with troops. There are about 27 allied battleships, cruisers, destroyers etc anchored here.’70


By the time the 4th Brigade arrived on Lemnos, plans were well advanced for the Allied amphibious assault on the Dardanelles. However, the training which the AIF had pursued so vigorously in Egypt was to prove totally inappropriate for what lay ahead. Certainly, as Grey contends, ‘very few of the developments in warfare imposed rapidly by action in France and Belgium had permeated through to the forces in Egypt, nor had any of the advances in the materials of war — bombs, periscopes, and the heightened use of the machine gun.’71


Australian Sergeant-Major G.S. Feist cursorily summarised his training as ‘long marches and climbing hills, etc., [and] getting fit.’ Added Feist, when ‘at last the word came — we were going to have a fly at the Turks. Well, you can bet it was like putting a bit of roast meat to a starving man — we sprung on it.’72 Little did he realise the horrors that lay ahead.
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CHAPTER TWO: GALLIPOLI


‘The Eyes of the World Are On Us’





By early 1915, fighting in France and Flanders had deteriorated into a stalemate and the belligerents faced one another in a muddy stand-off. On the Eastern Front, the Russian army suffered a string of costly defeats and its soldiers wallowed in despondency. Following a request from the Russian government, the British decided that the best way to assist their ally — and help crush Germany — was to knock Turkey out of the war. Winston Churchill (then First Lord of the Admiralty) argued that Royal Navy ships could destroy Turkish forts guarding the narrow entrance to the Dardanelles, sail on up the channel, and capture Constantinople. Churchill believed that the reopened ice-free sea passage would allow Russia to obtain essential military hardware and food supplies. Reinvigorated Russian troops could then resume their attacks and force the Germans to transfer divisions from the Western to the Eastern Front. The prospect of securing the Suez Canal and British oilfields in Persia further strengthened Churchill’s argument and sealed the War Council’s decision.1


Despite the imposing and heavily defended fortifications that guarded the straits leading to the Dardanelles, Churchill informed the War Council in London in no uncertain terms that a naval operation would be successful. On 19 February 1915, bombardment of the outer forts began and, during the next few days, some initial successes were recorded. However, when Admiral Carden’s flotilla reached the inner forts, Turkish mobile howitzers prevented his minesweepers from clearing well-laid minefields, while fire from the British battleships’ huge 12 and 15-inch guns did little damage to the forts. Noting the futility of continuing, Carden advocated an amphibious assault using ground troops to destroy the inner fortifications. But London had made its decision: infantry would only be used as a last resort, and the Navy was ordered to resume its shelling of the forts.2 Churchill was unhappy with Carden’s apparent lack of resolve and replaced him with a more resolute commander. On 18 March, Admiral John de Robeck’s fleet, comprising sixteen British and French battleships — including the modern super dreadnought Queen Elizabeth as well as a number of smaller ships — attempted to force The Narrows.3 The attack ended in failure as one third of the battleships were either sunk or badly damaged. What de Robeck could not have known, however, was that the apparently resolute Turkish defence had all but crumbled in the face of the mighty British onslaught.


Faced with the failure of the naval operation, the War Council reverted to its back-up strategy — a bold, ambitious assault on the peninsula. The 62-year-old soldier and poet, General Sir Ian Hamilton, was chosen as commander of the MEF. Hamilton retained his faith in a naval victory despite the earlier setbacks. A little over three weeks before the planned military landing, Hamilton informed Admiral de Robeck that the ‘wisest procedure’ was to resume the naval campaign, adding that ‘it is always possible that opposition may suddenly crumble. If you should succeed be sure to leave me cruisers enough to see me through my military attack in the event of that being necessary.’4 The Admiralty did not agree with Hamilton’s assessment and finally halted the naval attack — at least until after a military landing which, they argued, would silence the Turkish guns and allow the fleet safe passage. Naval vessels would, however, be used to support Hamilton’s amphibious assault.


Although the two-month advance warning provided to the Turks by the naval assault had deprived Hamilton of any element of strategic surprise, he could still hope for some tactical success. Early planning called for three amphibious assaults supported by naval gunfire. The main landing at Cape Helles would be complemented by two feints — one by the Australian and New Zealand Army Corps (ANZAC) force — and the other a naval demonstration at Bulair (eighty kilometres north-east of Helles) designed to divert Turkish attention from the major attack. History would prove that this task was well beyond the capabilities of the courageous but indecisive Hamilton and his optimistic co-planners. Hamilton was far too compliant with the demands of senior officers and too weak with subordinates, a fact not lost on the Secretary to the British War Council, Sir Morris Hankey. Disappointed by Hamilton’s appointment and what he regarded as the feeble effort devoted to planning the campaign, Hankey noted prophetically, ‘it is conceivable that a serious disaster may occur.’5 The War Council would also bear partial responsibility for any such disaster given the lack of advance planning for such a large amphibious attack and the questionable British attitude towards the fighting qualities of the Turks. Indeed, it is uncertain whether a more energetic and resourceful general could have achieved better results given the prevailing mindset in London.


Probably more culpable for the approaching ‘serious disaster’ was the man who originally appointed Hamilton, Field Marshal Lord Kitchener of Khartoum, the British Secretary of State for War. Kitchener and the War Council, inexplicably, had no definite plan of operation in place for the MEF. Moreover, Hamilton’s five divisions (approximately 70,000 men) amounted to only half the number which could, realistically, seize and hold the peninsula. Hamilton should have been aware of this, but deferred to the judgement of senior officers and politicians. Without a murmur of complaint he accepted his limited force, knowing full well that its numbers were considerably inferior to those of the Turks. Probably more significantly, this ‘left him without a strategic reserve necessary for his hazardous operation.’6
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On Lemnos, the Australians continued their strict training regime. On 15 April, the transport A31 Seang Choon arrived in Mudros harbour carrying the last contingent of troops from the 4th Australian Brigade. Despite their limited knowledge of amphibious assaults, junior officers attempted to train their men in the execution of such attacks. Hamilton’s optimistic plan failed to take into account many apparent difficulties including the lack of preparation, the men’s inexperience and the logistical problems of a seaborne operation. With the lack of adequate preparation at General Headquarters (GHQ), ‘ANZAC staffs … laboured and improvised like blacksmiths.’7 Captain Leslie Morshead noted that, at first, his men ‘looked very much at sea,’ although, after some additional training, he rather optimistically considered that they were ‘much more successful both from the Navy and the Army points of view.’ Morshead added that he was becoming increasingly concerned about the unsatisfactory planning, especially after ‘the Brigadier & B[attalio]n Commanders went to the Dardanelles on board the Queen Elizabeth. Our CO gave us a graphic description of what he saw of the peninsula of Gallipoli. They were fired on four times.’8


Not all the men’s time was taken up with training. Concerts were held in what Percy Toft referred to as a ‘natural amphitheatre’. According to Toft, there were two ‘main artists’ — a well-known baritone from New Zealand, and the other, their brigade commander, John Monash, who addressed the men ‘for five minutes on any current topic and his oratory held us spellbound.’ Considering Monash’s achievements later in the war, Toft’s appraisal is worthy of note:


We did not come into much personal contact with … [Monash]. He was an intellectual, a spirit which kept him aloof from his men. He had no spare moments and was well employed, but he was like the unseen head of some huge business organisation which he controlled thoroughly but had no discernible personal friendship for the men … who were not machines. His men should mean more than a mass of individuals … He was an engineer by profession and his work only mattered. The members of his brigade were only thought of for their usefulness to him and his work. Of course he succeeded … He had a single mind with a single aim – achievement … General Monash’s aloofness made him interesting to all.9
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By 19 April, the training exercises focused almost exclusively on troops disembarking from transports into the rowing boats which were to take them ashore. Guppy recalled practising ‘disembarking with full kit up … there is no doubt our equipment is heavy now, with 200 rounds of ammunition added, especially when one comes to climbing down and up rope ladders to the boats alongside.’10 Toft remembered that his


vessel was tied alongside another transport ship, making it possible for our neighbour, Victorian companies of the 8th Battalion and our companies to visit each other and make pleasant acquaintances. Day by day warships would come and go. In the far distant north we could hear the booming of the guns.


In this beautiful and large harbour we remained ten days practicing running up and down rope ladders thrown over the ship’s side. We were fully equipped, carrying rifles and extra ammunition and a faggot, required for firewood, strapped to our packs. We would then climb into one of the ship’s boats, and taking an oar, pull to the shore a mile away. We were drilled to take the same boatplace to avoid confusion. It was said that there was no wood on Gallipoli, and as none could be supplied for some time, it was necessary to carry some …


Every soldier could not negotiate the ladders. Some fell into the water to be unceremoniously hauled to the boat by a man supplied with a boat hook. We were permitted to swim, but the water was cold and few enjoyed more than a brief dip.11


On 23 April, junior officers and their troops were given two days’ notice that they were to prepare for an amphibious landing on a beach near Gaba Tepe. The 3rd Australian Brigade would form the first wave, while the 4th Brigade would follow in the second landing. Some troops would come ashore on the afternoon of 25 April, while others would follow the next day.12
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Senior British staff officers had already planned the landing of the 3rd Infantry Brigade at first light to secure the beachhead. The remainder of the force was to follow and take the important heights around Mal Tepe, five kilometres inland. Overlooking Maidos and the entrance to the Dardanelles, Mal Tepe allowed Turkish observers to keep their commanders on the southern tip of the peninsula abreast of the developing situation. British planners also believed that this action would cut off the Turkish forts, isolating them from supplies and reinforcements. Enemy troops around Cape Helles would likewise be starved of food and ammunition. British troops could then simply move north and mop up any remaining pockets of Turkish resistance. It seemed a simple matter to the British staff. Unsurprisingly, the reality was to prove entirely different.


On 24 April, Australian soldiers noted the unsettling sight of five hospital ships, capable of treating 2,500 wounded, heading for the landing site.13 Later the same day, the convoy of almost 200 transports, escorted by Royal Navy warships, began leaving Mudros. Bill Bradnock recalled, ‘About three o’clock in the afternoon we were all grouped together on the deck of the ship.’ His ship, he explained,


we called “The Hungry Goose.” It had a goose painted on the funnel and because we got very poor tucker on that boat, we called it “The Hungry Goose”. I think its number was A40. Just before four o’clock, Dr Luther rounded us up. Luther was a very fine fellow. He was a senior captain … a medical doctor … He said, “Well boys, the man you’re going to fight, he knows no mercy – and he’ll give no mercy. Get that in your brainbox!” Before the landing we were given a little hand-book with Kipling’s poems nicely printed in it. “There’s one thing that I want you to remember, boys,” he said, referring to the book, “and you’ve got to try and visualise it, and live up to it. It goes back to Afghanistan. Kipling wrote this poem:


When you’re wounded and lying on Afghanistan’s plains
And the women come out to cut off what remains
Just roll to your rifle, and blow out your brains
And go to your God like a soldier!


“These troops that we are going to be opposed to are mostly Mohammedan, and they’ll show no mercy. They don’t mind being killed. That’s the funny part about it, if there is anything funny about it, because the minute they’re killed they go straight to Paradise. When you’re killed, you’ll go straight to Hell. That’s the difference.”14


Archie Barwick conveyed the general feeling amongst Australian troops who had grown ‘heartily sick of the place [Lemnos].’15 Others who were to come ashore later as reinforcements were required to stay a little longer. Percy Toft described the frenzy of movement:


On Sunday morning, 25th April, 1915, we woke early to find many transports had left during the night. The Fleet, too, was gone. A continuous boom sounded from 50 miles away. We realized the big day had come. What were the other men’s feelings? I cannot describe my own. Transport after transport left. Early in the forenoon our ship moved off.


Barwick recalled that, earlier:


General Birdwood spoke to us, among other things he warned us to be careful with our water, food & ammunition & told us that the eyes of the world would be on us, to see how we fought … That night everyone was as happy as they could possibly be … [N]obody thought of what was going to happen on the morrow… At about 4 o’clock reveille sounded … & while we were munching [breakfast] … we heard a tremendous roar, up we all rushed to get a look at what was going on.16


Archie Barwick was witnessing the dawn landing of Australian troops. At around 3.30 a.m. on 25 April, the convoy anchored three kilometres off the coastline. A little later, the twelve tows began casting off and headed for the beach. At 4.30 a.m. the troops waded ashore.


The unsuspecting Australians, however, had been landed at the wrong place. Instead of ‘Z’ Beach, strong currents had forced the tows two kilometres north to Ari Burnu (subsequently known as Anzac Cove), a tiny bay beneath the menacing 260-metre summit of Chunuk Bair. The area was described as ‘a narrow beach and steep cliffs and a hinterland of tangled hills and gullies instead of the open plain or gentle slopes they had expected.’17 Paradoxically, had the men landed at the correct beach, there is every chance that they would have suffered greater casualties, as the Turkish defences there were far better prepared. Casualties were high in any case, with some men killed before they could land. Charles Kelly recalled, with a touch of black humour, seeing ‘the first casualty … before we got on shore. The bullet came in and hit this fellow … in the forehead. Now, it was nearly spent. It was the funniest thing you ever saw. It went along his forehead, and his two eyes fell out. He pushed them in again.’18 A Turkish officer, Major Mahmut Bey, saw firsthand the courage of his own troops and that of the Australians. He later recounted: ‘the enemy approached the shore in lifeboats. When they came into range, our men opened fire. Here, for years, the colour of the sea had always been the same, but now it turned red with the blood of our enemies.’19


Bill Bradnock (15th Battalion) took part in the second landing and recalled vividly the rampant confusion at the beachhead:


The second lot would go in, and the idea would be that the men that had been just loaded on the first boat would, after they’d towed them along … load them on to smaller boats and tie them together with a rope, and they would try and tow in as far as they could inshore, so that they could hop out … Make the landing. That was what happened to the first lot. I wasn’t in that lot. I was in the next lot. All I can remember was the yelling and shouting … I would say there was about 450 men. The din was terrific … There were no bloomin’ hills to go up in. It was just like landing here [flat]. If you go across the country, there’s no hills there, until you got three or four miles in, then you got some hills.


Well you see, we couldn’t get any reinforcements, we couldn’t get any ammo, we couldn’t get any tucker, and when we landed we took our own iron rations with us and that’s what we had – little weeny hard biscuits. Oh cripes the bully beef. There was no means of opening the tins. It was terrible … The whole stunt was badly organised.20


Reginald Colmer (13th Battalion) also came ashore in the second wave:


We all got christened when we were in the boat that took us right to the beach – the little boat. We got christened before we landed. There were two wounded badly. Apparently one was killed and another wounded … [by] snipers shooting them … We had to go straight up [the rugged cliffs]. You see these hills up in front of you … It was a case of slaughter before you got anywhere near the hills. You had to fight your way all the way to get up there to where we built our positions, that remained our positions for the rest of our career there … We were in the front-line trenches, the 15th [Battalion] was just back down the hill behind us, in reserve.21


The movement of troops already ashore devolved into chaos in the difficult terrain and under the witheringly accurate enemy rifle and machine-gun fire. Instead of advancing as a unit, the men had been instructed to form small groups. In the heat of battle, they were forced to make decisions on the spot ‘and fight their own battles.’22 Despite this, the Australians were able to take the first ridge and push inland for over a kilometre. However, they failed to capture Gun Ridge, their primary objective.
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Map 1: The Gallipoli Peninsula showing the landing site At ANZAC Cove, 25 April 1915 and the area captured (shaded) by the ANZACS and British (at Cape Helles). Inset: Position of Gallipoli Peninsula and Lemnos.


Obsolete and worthless maps, coupled with the unfamiliar terrain and lack of artillery support, meant that those few groups that penetrated to the second ridge — and fewer still to the main objective — were isolated. It was little better on the beach. Percy Toft was waiting to come ashore:


Before lunch [we] arrived at anchorage two miles from Gallipoli shore. Every man was tense. My heart was full and I longed to relieve my pent-up feelings by action. But suspense continued. While the warships fired noisy broadsides we watched fleecy puffs of smoke from enemy shrapnel shells floating over the shore. Pinnaces dashed about, and in the far distance, barges with troops neared the shore. There was a continuous rattle of rifle fire and one could distinguish the staccato of the machine guns firing. Cruisers fired shells, ranging from 4.7 up to 9 inches, each on its own target, separately, at intervals of about five minutes. There was almost a continuous booming. Flames and smoke belched from the guns. Here was noise at its greatest.23


John Cunliffe (13th Battalion) also came ashore in a subsequent landing. ‘The strongest impression I have of the landing was to see these English midshipmen standing to attention with a cane under their arm and their caps on,’ he recounted later. They were


giving instructions to British soldiers about where to go. Shells were coming over hell for leather, and there was not a wink from them. You’d think they were just on the parade ground. That was the first impression I got. I saw them as we landed, and we then went straight ahead. We were right alongside the Queen Elizabeth, and that was putting its fifteen-inch shells right over the beach … We went into open boats from the troopship, and we were all exposed, just sitting ducks … We were under fire all the time coming in. There was shrapnel coming all over where we were … There were quite a number of casualties on the pontoons before we got ashore. When we got close in to the shore we hopped into the water, but a lot of us were hit … before we got ashore. The water was up to our waists, but we soon got out of it. Then we went straight on.


It was almost dusk when we landed. It was practically dark, and everybody got lost. As far as I was concerned it was just everyone for themselves once you landed there. I don’t remember seeing any others from our company, or platoon, or section. I don’t remember any of my platoon at all being with me at the time. It was just everyone for themselves. No-one was giving instructions. You just went on, on your own initiative.


It was just on dark when we got up to Quinn’s, and we couldn’t go any further than that … The first feeling I had was that there were two prospects of getting off, and they were nil. You had no idea you’d ever get out of it, because there was nowhere to go. There was only the sea behind you. It was no good retreating because there was nowhere to retreat to.24


Ernest Guest (13th Battalion) and his mates


got ashore and we went in towards the high rise. They were calling out … just ahead of us, “Come on fellows, anywhere, get in, we are short handed,” and all this sort of stuff. We went up to them and dug in. And it was stupid the way they did things. Instead of resting the men as much as possible, we were all up listening to lectures and talking, all through from Mudros on. We were all bagged before ever we got out of the boats.25


By dusk on the 25th, the Australians’ early confidence had waned. ‘Our infantry getting an awful time on the open ridges from enemy shrapnel,’ wrote the Australian artillery commander, Colonel Talbot Hobbs, before adding, ‘Great confusion.’26 By the end of the day, ANZAC troops had taken approximately three square kilometres of enemy ground. The 1st Division was holding terrain near Gaba Tepe through to what subsequently became known as ‘Steele’s Post’. The 4th Australian Brigade and the New Zealand Division were sited on the left flank running down to ‘Fisherman’s Hut.’


Overall, the plan was a dismal failure. Reinforcements allowed Turkish troops to hold most of the high ground. Evacuation was discussed on board Queen Elizabeth, which served as Hamilton’s headquarters. Discounting this option, Hamilton believed that his best chance of success lay further south, around Helles, where British forces were engaged. The ANZACs needed only to hold their position and undertake small-scale offensives while British troops attempted an all-out attack. The Commander of the ANZAC Corps, General Sir William Birdwood, was informed that his men ‘have got through the difficult business. Now you have only to dig, dig, dig, until you are safe.’27


The 26th of April was similar to the previous day. Numerous command bungles impeded whatever chance the Australians may have had of moving their beachhead forward. Shortly after 8.00 a.m., Monash, his staff, and the remainder of the 14th Battalion landed. On board the troopships, men were becoming edgy. ‘At 10.45 am we climbed through doors that had been built in the side of the ship,’ Toft recalled, but


it was too dangerous for the destroyer to approach close to the shore and remain stationary, so we were trans-shipped to an open barge which held us all, the iron sides giving us a certain amount of protection from shrapnel. The shrapnel being aimed at us was flying in narrow strips across the water. The barge was towed by a small steam boat … We came to the shore and saw the water was deep, which allowed the barge to almost touch the land.


Unlike the previous day, there was little or no Turkish resistance. ‘Wading through a foot of water we waited until the company had landed.’ Toft continued,


then we sat down in groups on the beach and immediately started on our midday meal. Crowds of men were carrying supplies ashore. The naval arrangements were orderly and free from fuss. The enemy shelled the ships and barges, but no shellfire was directed at the beach.


About 2 pm we moved off. We were guided to the head of Monash’s Gully, there we dumped our packs, including our overcoats and all personal belongings. We were handed another bandolier of cartridges, which altogether made 350 rounds in our equipment pouches and bandoliers. In file we moved off to fight.28


And fight they did. The 4th Australian Brigade settled in, holding key positions at the head of Monash Valley, on the centre-left of the ANZAC perimeter.
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In the hours following the landing, that part of Monash Valley — commonly called Quinn’s Post — in front of the Turks, was ‘fringed with several strong posts’. Situated ‘between Russell’s Top on its left or western side, and the steep and much-indented ridge on the right,’ Monash Valley was a key component of the ANZAC defence network. Its tactical significance was not lost on either side. In the words of C.E.W. Bean, the ‘branch to the left runs for another half-mile between steep-sides, gradually becoming gentler till it ends in a spoon-shaped depression at The Nek. The branch to the right is shorter, narrower, and much steeper, and ends abruptly on a part of the inland slope of Baby 700, which came later to be known [from the trenches which afterwards gridironed it] as the “Chessboard.” ’29 Cunliffe recalled fighting from the trenches at Quinn’s Post:


By the second day the trench was as deep as it ever got – about four feet deep and about three feet wide. The ground was mostly sandy. To do any firing, your shoulders and head were above the trench, and you were a target all the time. You’d be firing all the time, spraying as many as you could. That’s why there were so many casualties. And then you’d dig in the dugout behind to have a spell.30


Anticipating a Turkish attack, the members of Percy Toft’s company dug themselves in:


Sometime during the afternoon [of the 26th], Captain Moran from A Company came across and took command of the sector we occupied. Our right flank was about 400 yards from the sea and about 100 yards in front of Shrapnel Gully. We were on a plain with a distinct gully running across our front five chains ahead. In between the dugouts and around us, particularly to the rear, were clumps of scrubby undergrowth about three feet tall, which gave cover from view. A small cleared patch of a quarter acre, evidently a cultivation area, was forty yards to our left front. Another height commenced about a quarter-mile ahead and was Turk’s country.


Our position was not exactly known, but “Johnny Turk” made a good guess. For a couple of hours on Tuesday [27 April] afternoon we crouched at the bottom of our holes. The shrapnel shell fire half enfilading from the right generally went a little to our rear. At 5 pm Turks could be seen gathering in a gully and considerable movement was seen on tracks skirting the hills in front of us. Just on sunset, an hour later, the country ahead seemed to be swarming with Turks. They were hurrying to and fro.


Our skipper, Frank Moran, said to us “Those Turks are gathering to attack. We’ll wait for them. Men! Don’t fire until they are five yards away, then let them have it! We’ll give them a surprise!”

OEBPS/images/fig02-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/fig03-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/icon.jpg





OEBPS/images/fig22-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/fig08-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/fig10-01.jpg
CHAPTER ONE

Prelude to War
‘We Marched Out to Meet the Supposed Enemy’

J






OEBPS/images/9780987057419.jpg
CROSSING
THE WIRE

The untold stories of Australian POWs
in battle and captivity during WWI

David Coombes





OEBPS/images/logo.jpg





OEBPS/images/fig38-01.jpg
THRACE

TURKEY

3 Gulf of Xeras
o Lk i
e Sea of
Murmer,
= Viaiepals
AEGEAN
SEA
Al 3
Sunli fay oS
1 wa 3 o
X' ity fd
Angae Cone Y apre o
Baghaly o
e
Maiden
N —
3 Choaid bl
e "'
M s
4 y [T — T
- o Mol e
A 8 Haaide
K






OEBPS/images/fig30-01.jpg
CHAPTER TWO

Gallipoli
‘The Eyes of the World Are On Us’






